E-FILED May 17, 2017 2:28 PM **Court of Appeals** Division I State of Washington



JUN 05 2017 JUN 05 2017 ASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT	SUPREME COURT NO. 145 COA NO. 73098-3-I			
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON				
	STATE OF WASHINGTON,			
*	Respondent,			
	v.			
	DALE LIESCHNER,			
	Petitioner.			
	L FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE ASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY			
Th	e Honorable Bruce I. Weiss, Judge			
	PETITION FOR REVIEW			
	CASEY GRANNIS			

Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the State failed to prove Lieschner knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived his constitutional right to appeal because trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in failing to consult with Lieschner about an appeal before the deadline passed?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Background

In November 2013, a jury found Lieschner guilty of possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver. App. A. (designated Ex. 1 at evidentiary hearing). Sentencing took place on December 24, 2013. <u>Id.</u> Lieschner's criminal history included two Montana convictions, which were used in the offender score. <u>Id.</u> The court imposed 60 months

¹ The cited appendices are attached to the supplemental brief filed by Lieschner's appellate counsel in the Court of Appeals.

confinement. <u>Id.</u> The judgment and sentence contained a section addressing the right to appeal and the 30-day deadline for filing a notice of appeal. <u>Id.</u> The court orally advised Lieschner of these rights at the sentencing hearing. 1RP² 8-9.

In May 2014, Lieschner filed a pro se motion to terminate his legal financial obligations (LFOs). App. B. In connection with that request for relief, Lieschner filed a pro se motion for order of indigence pursuant to RAP 15.2 and a supporting declaration. App. C (designated Ex. 3, 4 at hearing). The State opposed the motion. App. D. In January 2015, Lieschner filed a motion to correct or modify his LFO debt. App. E. The State again opposed the motion. App. F. No trial court ruling on either motion appears in the record. Also in January 2015, Lieschner wrote a letter to his trial attorney, Brian Ashbach, asking why his appeal had not yet been heard. App. G (designated Ex. 5 at hearing).

In February 2015, Lieschner filed a pro se notice of appeal, along with a motion to extend time to file the notice of appeal, supporting declaration, and motion for indigency. App. H (declaration designated Ex. 6 at hearing). According to the declaration, Lieschner told his attorney that he wanted to file a notice of appeal immediately after sentencing. Id.

² The verbatim report of proceeding is referenced as follows: 1RP - 12/24/13; 2RP - 2/12/16.

He informed his attorney that he was unhappy with his representation, and that he wanted to argue ineffective assistance of counsel and that the State failed to prove its case. <u>Id.</u> The attorney said he would file the notice of appeal the next Monday. <u>Id.</u> When Lieschner subsequently heard nothing about the appeal, he "assumed it was just taking a long time as usual." <u>Id.</u> Upon inquiry, he learned from the Court of Appeals that no notice of appeal was filed in his case. Id.

In October 2015, a commissioner granted the parties' joint motion and remanded the matter for an evidentiary hearing on whether Lieschner waived his right to appeal. Slip op. at 3.

2. Evidentiary hearing

Assigned counsel for the evidentiary hearing on remand argued in a pre-hearing brief that "there will be no evidence elicited at this fact-finding hearing to establish Mr. Ashbach complied with the ABA standards addressing an attorney's advisement of a criminal defendant's right to appeal. Based on the extremely limited communication between Mr. Lieschner and Mr. Ashbach regarding his appellate rights, as well as Mr. Lieschner's actions in April 2014, January 2015, and February 2015, he respectfully requests that this Court find there was no waiver of his right to appeal." App. I. In its brief, the State contended the evidence would show knowing inaction and Lieschner's affirmative decision not to

appeal, such that he waived his right to appeal knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently. App. J.

At the evidentiary hearing, the State called Ashbach as a witness. 2RP 5. Ashbach testified that he represented Lieschner in the criminal case at issue. 2RP 6. He filed a pre-trial suppression motion, which was denied. 2RP 9; App. K, L. The case proceeded to trial, where the jury returned a guilty verdict after a three-day trial. 2RP 10.

According to Ashbach, the first time he discussed the right to appeal with Lieschner was immediately after the jury verdict. 2RP 6. Ashbach told Lieschner he was sorry. 2RP 6. Lieschner responded he knew they were going to lose based on the job Ashbach did. 2RP 6. Ashbach said "you could appeal if you want, and [Lieschner] said it didn't matter now." 2RP 6. Lieschner did not explain what he meant by "it didn't matter now." 2RP 6-7.

After the verdict but before sentencing, Ashbach learned there were Montana convictions involving a "significant" amount of suspended time. 2RP 7, 41. Ashbach linked that concern to Lieschner's earlier expressed sentiment of "it doesn't matter now." 2RP 7. Ashbach first learned between the verdict and sentencing from the prosecutor that Lieschner would be facing a 20-year sentence in Montana due to a

probation revocation if he was convicted on the Washington offense. 2RP 41. The issue came up in looking into the offender score. 2RP 7, 11.

They talked about how there would be a problem with his Montana probation "sometime between verdict and sentencing. I don't know. I know at some point, like Mr. Lieschner testified, we did speak in a back room, but it could be at that time." 2RP 41: There was discussion about appealing in connection with the 20-year Montana sentence, but "I just don't remember the specifics of it at that time." 2RP 42. His assumption, though he couldn't say for sure, was they talked about how most courts take the position that a conviction is not necessary to trigger a probation violation and that an acquittal can still result in a violation. 2RP 42.

The next time Ashbach mentioned the right to appeal was after sentencing. 2RP 7. Ashbach told him if he changed his mind and wanted to appeal, "he should let me know ASAP, that I think we had 30 days." 2RP 7. When asked what Lieschner's response was, Ashbach answered "I, honestly, I can't remember the response to that. All I know is that he had indicated that he did not want to pursue the appeal." 2RP 7.

Ashbach did not hear from Lieschner again until about 14 or 15 months after sentencing (February 2015), at which time he inquired about the status of his appeal. 2RP 7-8. Ashbach addressed Lieschner's concerns about the appeal in responding to a bar complaint. 2RP 11-12.

Lieschner testified on his own behalf at the evidentiary hearing. 2RP 13. According to Lieschner, he rejected a plea offer because he wanted to go to trial. 2RP 15. Based on what Ashbach told him, he believed would not have the chance to appeal if he pled guilty. 2RP 15. If he pled guilty or was found guilty by a jury, he would be subject to a probation violation in Montana, "which is a 20-year sentence." 2RP 15.

At sentencing, Lieschner told his attorney he wanted to appeal. 2RP 16. Ashbach responded that he would come in Monday and fill out the paperwork. 2RP 16. Lieschner knew he had the right to appeal, that he had 30 days to file, and that he could lose his right to appeal if the deadline passed. 2RP 19. Lieschner denied telling his attorney that he did not want to appeal. 2RP 19. After being transported to prison, he thought the appeal was in progress. 2RP 17. But after a while, he started to wonder what was going on because he had not heard anything about the status of the appeal. 2RP 17-18, 22-23. Lieschner wrote to Ashbach and the Court of Appeals asking about the appeal. 2RP 18. The Court of Appeals informed him there was no appeal pending. 2RP 18.

Lieschner's counsel for the evidentiary hearing argued Ashbach did not fulfill his duty to consult with Lieschner about the appeal, that Lieschner had every motivation to appeal, and Lieschner's actions following sentencing showed he did not validly waive his right to appeal. 2RP 33-38.

3. Trial court's findings and conclusions

The trial court concluded Lieschner knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waived his right to appeal. App. M. The court found Lieschner had "brief discussions" with his attorney regarding his right to appeal. Id. Lieschner knew he had the right to appeal and that the notice of appeal needed to be filed within 30 days. Id. The court rejected as not credible Lieschner's testimony that he advised his attorney that he wanted to appeal. Id. The court credited Ashbach's testimony that Lieschner "advised" Ashbach that he did not want to appeal. Id.

The court further found that Lieschner told his attorney there would be no deals taken "because he was looking at 20 years on a probation violation from Montana if he pled or was found guilty of the charge." Id. Lieschner did not advise Ashbach of his Montana conviction. Id. Rather, Mr. Casey, the prosecutor, raised the issue to Ashbach prior to sentencing. Id. At the time of the verdict, Ashbach advised his client that a notice of appeal could be filed. Id. Lieschner said it did not matter. Id. He did not explain to his attorney why it did not matter, but Ashbach later found out it was related to a Montana conviction. Id.

4. Court of Appeals

On appeal, Lieschner argued Ashbach provided ineffective of assistance of counsel in failing to consult with him about the appeal, precluding a determination that he validly waived his right to appeal. See Lieschner's Supplemental Brief. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument and denied his motion to enlarge the time to file a notice of appeal, holding "the State satisfied its burden of demonstrating that Lieschner knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to appeal." Slip op. at 1. Lieschner seeks review.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. LIESCHNER DID NOT VALIDLY WAIVE HIS RIGHT TO APPEAL BECAUSE HIS TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO CONSULT WITH HIM ABOUT AN APPEAL.

The Washington Supreme Court recognizes the importance of the constitutional right to appeal enshrined in our state constitution. City of Seattle v. Klein, 161 Wn.2d 554, 567, 166 P.3d 1149 (2007). The only means by which this right may be relinquished is by a voluntary, knowing, and intelligent waiver. Klein, 161 Wn.2d at 556. Ineffective assistance of counsel is a basis to challenge an alleged waiver of the right to appeal: "when counsel's constitutionally deficient performance deprives a defendant of an appeal that he otherwise would have taken, the defendant

has made out a successful ineffective assistance of counsel claim entitling him to an appeal." Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 484, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000). Lieschner did not knowingly or intelligently waive his right to appeal. His attorney was ineffective for failing to advise him of the consequences of the conviction or the advantages and disadvantages of filing an appeal.

The Washington Supreme Court has not addressed an ineffective assistance of counsel claim in the context of whether the right to appeal has been waived. Lieschner's case provides an opportunity for this Court to do so. This case raises the specific issue of whether prejudice in this context is measured under an objective standard or a subjective one. Review is warranted because this case presents a significant question of constitutional law. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

a. Defendants have the right to effective assistance of counsel to ensure the right to appeal is protected.

RAP 5.2(a) requires the filing of a notice of appeal within 30 days of the entry of the judgment and sentence. Under RAP 18.8(b), extensions of time to file a notice of appeal are limited to extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice. Despite the strong language in RAP 18.8(b), the decision to grant an extension of the time to file an appeal must be balanced against the constitutional right to appeal. <u>State v.</u>

Kells, 134 Wn.2d 309, 314, 949 P.2d 818 (1998). The "right to appeal in all cases" is expressly guaranteed by article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. Klein, 161 Wn.2d at 556. A criminal appeal may not be dismissed as untimely unless the State affirmatively proves the defendant voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waived his appeal right. State v. Sweet, 90 Wn.2d 282, 283-84, 286, 581 P.2d 579 (1978); Kells, 134 Wn.2d at 313.

The trial court found Ashbach credible and Lieschner not credible. Even so, the court erred in determining Lieschner's waiver of his right to appeal was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. There is no dispute Lieschner knew about the right to appeal and knew about the 30-day deadline for filing the notice of appeal. But that does not end the inquiry. Whether counsel was ineffective must also be considered. State v. Chetty (Chetty I), 167 Wn. App. 432, 439-40, 272 P.3d 918 (2012).

Every defendant is guaranteed the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 22 of the Washington State Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). The constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel attaches to an appeal as of right. Chetty I, 167 Wn. App. at 440 (citing Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S.

387, 397, 105 S. Ct. 830, 83 L. Ed. 2d 821 (1985)). "[T]he effectiveness of counsel is a circumstance that bears on the validity of a defendant's waiver of the right to appeal and, in turn, on this court's ultimate determination whether to extend the time to file a notice of appeal under RAP 18.8(b)." Chetty I, 167 Wn. App. at 444.

There is a "constitutional duty to consult where counsel has reason to believe either '(1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal (for example, because there are nonfrivolous grounds for appeal), or (2) that this particular defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing." Id. at 441 (quoting Roe, 528 U.S. at 480). "The failure to consult under these circumstances constitutes deficient performance." Id. Prejudice is established by showing "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient failure to consult with him about an appeal, he would have timely appealed." Roe, 528 U.S. at 484.

b. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to consult with Lieschner about the appeal, resulting in a waiver that was not knowing, voluntary and intelligent.

The trial court found Ashbach had "brief discussions" with Lieschner about an appeal. App. M. Those "brief discussions" were cursory. They do not satisfy the requisite standard for consultation. "Counsel's obligation, once it arises, is not satisfied by a cursory reference to the right to an appeal." State v. Chetty (Chetty II), 184 Wn. App. 607,

614, 338 P.3d 298 (2014). To "consult" in this context means to "convey a specific meaning — advising the defendant about the advantages and disadvantages of taking an appeal, and making a reasonable effort to discover the defendant's wishes." Roe, 528 U.S. at 478. This meaning of consultation is consistent with the American Bar Association Standards Relating to the Prosecutor Function and Defense Function. Chetty I, 167 Wn. App. at 441-42. The ABA standard provides: "After conviction, the lawyer should explain to the defendant the meaning and consequences of the court's judgment and his right of appeal. The lawyer should give the defendant his professional judgment as to whether there are meritorious grounds for appeal and as to the probable results of an appeal. He should also explain to the defendant the advantages and disadvantages of an appeal." Id. (quoting Sweet, 90 Wn.2d at 290 (quoting Project on Standards for Criminal Justice, ABA, Standards Relating to the Prosecution Function and the Defense Function: Approved Draft § 8.2, at 289 (1971)).

Ashbach had nothing in his file regarding discussion about the appeal. 2RP 9. According to his testimony, the conversation at the time of the verdict consisted of Ashbach telling Lieschner he could appeal. 2RP 6, 11. Lieschner said "it didn't matter now." 2RP 6. Ashbach made no inquiry as to what Lieschner meant by this. 2RP 6-7. Ashbach did not

advise Lieschner about the advantages and disadvantages of an appeal and did not make a reasonable effort to discover Lieschner's wishes based on such a discussion.

They next talked "sometime between verdict and sentencing. I don't know. I know at some point, like Mr. Lieschner testified, we did speak in a back room, but it could be at that time." 2RP 41. There was discussion about appealing in light of facing a 20-year Montana sentence, but Ashbach did not "remember the specifics of it." 2RP 42. His assumption, though he couldn't say for sure, was that the conversation was about how most courts take the position that a conviction is not necessary to trigger a probation violation. 2RP 42. Ashbach's testimony about their discussion is vague and uncertain. It is insufficient to show Ashbach advised Lieschner about the advantages and disadvantages of taking an appeal. At this juncture, Ashbach did not make a reasonable effort to discover Lieschner's wishes.

The last time Ashbach mentioned the right to appeal was after sentencing. 2RP 7. Ashbach told him if he wanted to appeal, "he should let me know ASAP, that I think we had 30 days." 2RP 7. When asked what Lieschner's response was, Ashbach answered "I, honestly, I can't remember the response to that. All I know is that he had indicated that he

did not want to pursue the appeal." 2RP 7. There was no discussion about the advantages and disadvantages of taking an appeal.

"In assessing counsel's performance, courts consider 'all the information counsel knew or should have known." Chetty II, 184 Wn. App. at 614 (quoting Roe, 528 U.S. at 480). Ashbach knew or should have known that Lieschner's conviction endangered his Montana probation, increasing the likelihood of revocation and imposition of a 20-year sentence. Yet Ashbach did not discuss the advantage of appealing the Washington conviction. The appeal, if successful, would markedly lessen the likelihood of having his Montana probation revoked.

A highly relevant factor in the "would want to appeal" inquiry is "whether the conviction follows a trial or a guilty plea, both because a guilty plea reduces the scope of potentially appealable issues and because such a plea may indicate that the defendant seeks an end to judicial proceedings." Roe, 528 U.S. at 480. Lieschner's case was resolved by jury trial, which exponentially expands the universe of potential issues for appeal.

The State conceded Lieschner's counsel "may have" rendered deficient performance based on the record, and otherwise offered no argument that counsel performed competently. State's Brief in Opposition at 17. The concession is appropriate.

The Court of Appeals wrote "Lieschner does not challenge the trial court's factual findings that he . . . told defense counsel that he did not want to appeal." Slip op. at 6. This is misleading. The trial court found Lieschner "advised" Ashbach not to file an appeal and described "verbal instructions to Mr. Ashbach that he did not want to file an appeal." App. M. Ashbach testified that Lieschner "indicated" that he did not want to appeal. 2RP 7. In the appellate brief, Lieschner argued if "advised" and "verbal instructions" were construed as "indicated," then substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings. But if "advised" and "verbal instructions" meant something more than "indicated," then the findings are unsupported by substantial evidence. Lieschner's Supplemental Brief at 15-16.

Either way, the critical point is that the trial court did not find Lieschner *clearly* told Ashbach not to file an appeal, and the record would not support such a finding. The wish to not file an appeal must be "clearly conveyed." Roe, 528 U.S. at 477; Chetty II, 184 Wn. App. at 614. Ashbach was only able to testify in vague terms that Lieschner "indicated" he did not want to appeal. 2RP 7. Even then, Ashbach could not remember Lieschner's response when Ashbach told him to let him know whether he wanted to appeal. 2RP 7. Telling his attorney following the verdict that "it doesn't matter" without explaining what he meant is not the

same as telling his attorney not to file an appeal. 2RP 6-7. The record does not show Lieschner explicitly told or "clearly conveyed" a desire not to appeal to his attorney. See Roe 528 U.S. at 477 ("a defendant who explicitly tells his attorney not to file an appeal plainly cannot later complain that, by following his instructions, his counsel performed deficiently") (emphasis added).

Given the prospect of a 20-year sentence for his Montana probation revocation following Lieschner's conviction and the presence of a non-frivolous issue for appeal (at minimum, the suppression motion), the record establishes that a rational defendant in Lieschner's position would have wanted to appeal. Trial counsel's failure to consult with Lieschner about the advantages and disadvantages of filing an appeal constituted deficient performance. Chetty II, 184 Wn. App. at 615.

To show prejudice, Lieschner need only show "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient failure to consult with him about an appeal, he would have timely appealed." Roe, 528 U.S. at 484. In this context, the performance and prejudice prongs often overlap. Id. at 486. Lieschner's expressed concern about revocation of the Montana probation upon conviction and the presence of a non-frivolous issue for appeal support a reasonable inference that but for counsel's failure to

consult, Lieschner would have filed an appeal. Chetty II, 184 Wn. App. at 616.

Evidence of a "nonfrivolous" ground for appeal is one circumstance that can be highly relevant to this determination. Roe, 528 U.S. at 485-86. The State did not claim trial counsel's pre-trial suppression challenge was frivolous. From Lieschner's standpoint, the fact that the issue was good enough for his lawyer to raise would signal to the client that the issue was not frivolous and worth considering for appeal. Rather, the State suggested the suppression issue would not prevail on appeal. State's Brief in Opposition at 18-19.

But that is not the standard. In assessing whether counsel was ineffective in failing to advise a client about the right to appeal, "[p]rejudice does not require that the defendant show that he had meritorious grounds for appeal." <u>United States v. Sandoval-Lopez</u>, 409 F.3d 1193, 1196 (9th Cir. 2005). It would be unfair to require an indigent defendant "to demonstrate that his hypothetical appeal might have had merit before any advocate has ever reviewed the record in his case in search of potentially meritorious grounds for appeal." <u>Roe</u>, 528 U.S. at 486. As undersigned counsel was only appointed to litigate whether Lieschner's right to appeal was validly waived, Lieschner has not yet enjoyed the benefit of an advocate appointed to comb through the entire

record to determine whether meritorious issues for appeal exist. Moreover, a defendant's inability to "specify the points he would raise were his right to appeal reinstated" does not foreclose a showing of prejudice where there are other substantial reasons to believe he would have appealed. Roe, 528 U.S. at 486 (quoting Rodriquez v. United States, 395 U.S. 327, 330, 89 S. Ct. 1715, 23 L. Ed. 2d 340 (1969)).

Lieschner's expressed concern about revocation of the Montana probation if the conviction was left to stand by itself supports a reasonable inference that, but for counsel's failure to consult, Lieschner would have filed an appeal in an attempt to overturn that conviction and avoid serving an additional 20 years in prison. When Ashbach mused at the evidentiary hearing that the prospect of a 20-year sentence in Montana supposedly explained "why it didn't matter now and why there was no appeal to be filed," the judge responded "That doesn't make sense to me. Why would that be the reason why you wouldn't file an appeal if the only way to avoid the 20 years was to win on appeal?" 2RP 42. That sums up the situation nicely. Given an appeal was the means to avoid the 20-year sentence in Montana, there is a reasonable probability that Lieschner would have appealed but for counsel's failure to consult with him. Lieschner shows he was prejudiced by his attorney's deficiency.

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