RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

5/30/2017 3:24 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. COA No. 73098-3-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

DALE R. LIESCHNER,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS NOT A "DECISION TERMINATING REVIEW," IT IS ONLY REVIEWABLE VIA DISCRETIONARY REVIEW.

The defendant has filed a "Petition for Review" of the Court of Appeals decision. A petition for review can only be filed of a "decision terminating review." RAP 13.4(a). That term is defined in RAP 12.3(a):

A "decision terminating review" is an opinion, order, or judgment of the appellate court ... if it:

- (1) Is filed after review is accepted by the appellate court filing the decision; and
- (2) Terminates review unconditionally; and

(3) Is (i) a decision on the merits, or (ii) a decision by the judges dismissing review...

The term "accepts review" is, in turn, defined by RAP 6.1 and 6.2. When a decision is reviewable as a matter of right, the appellate court accepts review "upon the timely filling in the trial court of a notice of appeal." RAP 6.1. When a decision is reviewable by discretionary review, the court accepts review by granting a motion for discretionary review. RAP 6.2(a).

Here, the defendant was seeking review of a final judgment, which is reviewable as a matter of right. RAP 2.2(a)(1). The notice of appeal was not, however, timely under RAP 5.2(a). The Court of Appeals denied the defendant's motion to extend the filing period. As a result, review was never accepted, so the Court of Appeals decision is not a "decision terminating review."

Any opinion that is not a "decision terminating review" is an "interlocutory decision." RAP 12.3(b). An interlocutory decision can only be reviewed via motion for discretionary review. RAP 13.5(a).

B. UNDER THE STANDARDS FOR GRANTING DISCRETIONARY REVIEW, THIS CASE PRESENTS FACTUAL ISSUES THAT DO NOT WARRANT REVIEW.

The defendant claims that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Because this case is not reviewable by petition for review, that rule is inapplicable. Nor does this case fall within any of the categories specified in RAP 13.5A(a) (which are likewise governed by the standards set out in RAP 13.4(b)). The governing standards are set out in RAP 13.5(b):

Discretionary review of an interlocutory decision of the Court of Appeals will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) if the Court of Appeals has committed an obvious error which would render further proceedings useless; or

- (2) if the Court of Appeals has committed probable error and the decision of the Court of Appeals substantially alters the status quo or substantially limits the freedom of a party to act; or
- (3) if the Court of Appeals has so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings ... as to call for the exercise of revisory jurisdiction by the Supreme Court.

Here, the Court of Appeals held that the defendant had falled to establish prejudice from any deficient advice that he received from his attorney. Slip op. at 9. This holding was neither obvious error, probable error, nor a departure from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings. At the remand hearing, the defendant introduced no evidence of what additional advice he should have been given. There was accordingly no evidence of how any additional advice would have affected anyone's decision — either the defendant's personal decision or that of a reasonable person in his position.

The defendant claims that the Court of Appeals improperly applied a subjective standard of prejudice. This argument was never presented to that court. Rather, the defendant argued: "Prejudice is established by showing 'a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient failure to consult with him about an appeal, he would have timely appealed." Supp. Brief of Appellant at 11-12, citing Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 478, 120 S.Ct. 1029, 145 L.Ed.2d 985 (2000). In support of his argument that prejudice was shown, the defendant pointed to his "expressed concern about revocation of the Montana probation upon conviction." Supp. Brief at 17; Reply of Appellant at 6-7. The defendant cannot complain that the Court of Appeals did exactly what he asked it to: take his own statements and actions into account in deciding whether he had established prejudice. The court's resolution of this factual issue does not warrant review.

C. BECAUSE THERE IS AN INADEQUATE REGARD WITH REGARD TO THE DEFENDANT'S INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIM, THIS CASE IS AN UNSUITABLE VEHICLE FOR RESOLVING LEGAL ISSUES RELATING TO THAT CLAIM.

The defendant asks this court to decide how prejudice will be assessed for ineffectiveness claims involving inadequate advisements concerning the right to appeal. Petition for Review at 9. This case is, however, unsuitable for resolving that issue, because of the inadequacy of the record.

In the defendant's motion for extension of time, he raised no claim that inadequate advice led him to forego his right to appeal. Instead, he claimed that he *dld* instruct his attorney to file an appeal and believed that the attorney had done so. Based on these allegations, the parties jointly asked the court to remand the case "for a factual hearing on whether the appellant has waived his right to appeal." Joint Motion for Remand at 1.

Prior to the remand hearing, both parties filed memoranda in the trial court. The defendant's memorandum cited the ABA standards "regarding how defense counsel should advice a client on his appellate rights." App. I at 8. The memorandum did not, however, include any argument about ineffective assistance of counsel. It contained no discussion of prejudice. Nor did it contain any explanation of how the absent of any necessary advice could have affected the defendant's decision. Those arguments were raised for the first time in the Court of Appeals following the remand hearing.

If this court is going to resolve a significant issue of constitutional law, it should do so on a fully-litigated factual record. In the present case, the facts before the court concerning ineffective assistance are those that made their way into the record incidentally, while the parties were litigating other issues. The entire theory on which the defendant now relies was never raised in or resolved by the trial court. If the court wishes

to resolve the issues raised by the defendant, it should do so in a case where the necessary facts have been fully litigated.

D. IF THIS COURT ACCEPTS REVIEW, IT SHOULD DETERMINE WHETHER MOTIONS UNDER RAP 18.8(b) ARE PROPER VEHICLES FOR LITIGATING INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIMS.

If the court accepts review of this case, it should determine whether ineffectiveness claims can be brought under RAP 18.8(b), or whether they need to be raised via personal restraint petitions. That procedural issue has never been addressed by this court. It has significant implications on when such claims can be raised and how they will be addressed.

RAP 18.8(b), on its face, allows an extension of time to file a notice of appeal "only in extraordinary circumstances and to prevent a gross miscarriage of justice." Attorney errors do not satisfy this standard. Shumway v. Payne, 136 Wn.2d 383, 394-97, 964 P.2d 349 (1998); Beckman ex rel. Beckman v. State, 102 Wn. App. 687, 11 P.3d 313 (2000).

In criminal cases, however, defendants have a constitutional right to appeal. The State bears the burden of demonstrating that a voluntary, knowing, and intelligent waiver of the right to appeal. State v. Sweet, 90 Wn.2d 282, 581 P.2d 579 (1978). In Sweet, the defendant's right to appeal was asserted via a post-conviction motion under former CrR 7.7. That rule was the predecessor of the personal restraint petition. See In re Hagler, 97 Wn.2d 818, 650 P.2d 1103 (1982). In subsequent cases, however, claims that a defendant has not waived his right to appeal have normally been raised via motion under RAP 18.8(b) — even though nothing in the language of the rule allows a motion to be granted on that ground. See, e.g., State v. Kells, 134 Wn.2d 309, 949 P.2d 818 (1998); State v. Cater, 186 Wn. App. 384, 345 P.3d 843 (2015).

The scope of RAP 18.8(b) was further expanded by the Court of Appeals in State <u>v. Chetty</u>, 167 Wn. App. 432, 272 P.3d 918 (2012). There, the defendant filed a motion under that rule over six years after he was convicted. He acknowledged that at the time he was convicted, he was aware of his right to appeal and chose not to. He claimed, however, that this decision resulted from inadequate advice from his attorney concerning the advantages and disadvantages of appeal. The Court of Appeals held that "the effectiveness of counsel is a circumstance that bears on the validity of a defendant's waiver of a right to appeal." <u>Id.</u> at 444 ¶ 32. Consequently, the court allowed an allegation of ineffectiveness to be litigated via a motion under RAP 18.8(b).

This holding has at least two significant effects. First, it nullifies key language in Sweet. There, this court said that the State could demonstrate waiver by showing that the defendant had been properly advised of his right to appeal:

[I]f a convicted individual is clearly advised of the right to appeal and the procedure necessary to vindicate that right in the manner prescribed by CrR 7.1(b), demonstrates understanding, and is under no unfair restraint preventing vindication, failure to act can be said to be waiver the intentional relinquishment of a known right. Waiver could most clearly be shown by a demonstration in the record that the trial judge questioned the defendant about his understanding of the appeal procedure and his intentions with regard to an appeal.

Sweet, 90 Wn.2d at 287.

Under <u>Chetty</u>, however, advising the defendant of his right to appeal cannot establish a valid waiver. Regardless of he what he was told in court, the defendant can still claim that he received inadequate advice from counsel. What <u>Sweet</u> held to be the clearest possible showing of waiver – a colloquy concerning the defendant's decision not to appeal – is entirely inadequate under <u>Chetty</u>. This means that under Chetty there is no

way for the State to protect a conviction against attempts to appeal years or even decades later.

Second, <u>Chetty</u> creates a new exception to the time limit on collateral attack set out in RCW 10.73.090. This court has never specifically considered how the procedure under RAP 18.8(b) is affected by that statute. It has, however, considered motions under that rule that were brought after expiration of the time limit. <u>Kells</u>, 134 Wn.2d at 312 (motion brought 15 months after sentencing). As a practical matter, motions under RAP 18.8(b) have been treated as exceptions to the time limit. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Cater</u>, 186 Wn. App. at 391 (court considered motion filed 23 years after sentencing).

Chetty expands that exception to cover claims of ineffective assistance of counsel with respect to the right to appeal. Such claims are therefore treated differently from any other type of ineffectiveness claim. If a defendant receives inadequate advice from counsel at trial or in connection with a guilty plea, that claim must be raised within one year after the conviction becomes final (absent some statutory exception). See, e.g., In re Tsai, 183 Wn.2d 91, 351 P.3d 138 (2015). If, on the other hand, the defendant receives ineffective advice from counsel about his right to appeal, under Chetty that claim can be raised years or even decades later.

This holding seriously interferes with the finality of judgments. It is one thing to require the State to ensure that defendants are properly advised of their right to appeal. It is quite another to require the State to respond years after the fact to claims concerning the private conversations between defendants and their attorneys. By the time such claims are raised, memories may have faded and records may be unavailable. As a

practical matter, there may be no way for the State to refute whatever the defendant chooses to say about those conversations.

The State is not claiming that defendants should have no remedy for ineffective assistance concerning their right to appeal. Rather, the State's position is that such claims should be raised in the same way as other ineffectiveness claims – via personal restraint petition or another valid form of collateral attack. Such proceedings have a clearly-established procedure and are subject to a statutory time limit.

This court has never attempted to delineate the scope of issues that can be raised under RAP 18.8(b). If the court grants review in this case, it should examine that issue.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The motion for discretionary review should be denied.

Respectfully submitted on May 30, 2017.

MARK K. ROE Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

SETH A FINE, WSBA #1093; Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent